70329-3

70329-3

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

NO. 70329-3-I

SUDDEN VALLEY COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION,
a Washington homeowner's association,

Appellant,

v.

CURT CASEY, DAVE SCOTT, BARBARA VOLKOV,
Washington residents,

Respondents.

2013 JUL 19 PM 1:19
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I
STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRIEF OF APPELLANT
SUDDEN VALLEY COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION

Richard A. Davis III, WSBA #20940
Attorney for Appellant

CHMELIK SITKIN & DAVIS P.S.
1500 Railroad Avenue
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360) 671-1796

I. INTRODUCTION

An individual purchasing a home in Sudden Valley Community Association prior to 1995 had the assurance that his/her annual dues and assessments would increase if—and only if—the increase were proposed by the Board of Directors and subsequently approved by 60% of the members voting at a meeting of the members. Article III, Section 19 of the SVCA Bylaws establish this threshold.

But, Plaintiffs argue that the Legislature rendered this bylaw provision null and void in 1995 when it passed the Homeowners' Association Act (the "Act"), RCW 64.38. Plaintiffs contend that the Act mandates a specific process for a homeowners' association to impose assessments and that it overrides the process set forth in Article III, Section 19. The trial court agreed with the Plaintiffs, thereby eradicating the contractual expectations that members of SVCA have had since 1973.

The trial court's ruling, if upheld, has significant implications for SVCA and homeowners' associations throughout the State. Historically, SVCA has maintained an elevated threshold to increase assessments (i.e., 60% of the members voting at a

meeting). But, under the trial court ruling, the assessments established by the Board would be approved unless a majority of all members in SVCA (i.e., over half of 3,204 voting members) rejected the budget. What this means for SVCA is that any assessments proposed by the Board—no matter how unreasonable—would be approved because of the practical impossibility of getting 1,602 members to vote against a budget. In fact, it is rare for even half of the members to vote at a member meeting.

Plaintiffs' argument is premised on a misreading of the statute. Plaintiffs conflate two very different terms: "budget" and "assessments." The Act only talks about the process for ratifying a proposed "budget", but Plaintiffs maintain that the ratification of the proposed budget constitutes an automatic approval of "assessments." By misconstruing the statute in this fashion, Plaintiffs identify a "conflict" between the Act and Bylaws which does not exist. Worse yet, Plaintiffs' arguments lead to a disturbing result the Legislature never intended. It means that the Legislature—in an uncharacteristically obtuse manner and without any warning whatsoever—eliminated the contractual rights and

expectations of homeowners' association members throughout the state.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant assigns the following errors to the trial court's decision:

1. The trial court erred by denying SVCA's motion for summary judgment. (*The standard of review is de novo, and the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court*¹).
2. The trial court erred by granting Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment. (*The standard of review is de novo, and the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court*²).
3. The trial court erred by awarding Plaintiffs their attorneys' fees and costs and by denying SVCA's motion for attorneys' fees and costs. (*The standard of review is de novo, and the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court*³).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. General Background on Sudden Valley.

SVCA is a large homeowners' association in Whatcom County, Washington. It was incorporated in 1973 and is comprised of 3,204 lots (defined as also including residents of several condominium buildings located within the entire development) plus a variety of common amenities, including, among other things, a

¹ *Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 150 Wash. 2d 478, 483, 78 P.3d 1274, 1276 (2003).

² *Id.*

³ *Id.*

golf course, playground, marina, swimming pools, meeting facilities and fitness facility. CP 216-17, 254

SVCA is governed by an elected nine (9) member Board of Directors which is responsible for the affairs of the Association. The Board is elected by the members of the SVCA at the annual general meeting. Each lot in SVCA has one vote, so there are 3,204 possible votes at any meeting of the members. CP 216-17. Over the past 4 years, votes at member meetings have been cast in person or by mail-in ballot, by an average of only forty percent (40%) of the membership. CP 94, 97.

SVCA obtains its revenue from a variety of sources⁴; however, the majority of its annual revenue comes from “annual dues and assessments” levied on its members. CP 94. Since its incorporation in 1973, SVCA’s Bylaws have provided that annual dues and assessments must be established by the Board of Directors and thereafter approved by the members. Article III, Section 19 of the Bylaws provides, in pertinent part, the following:

Annual dues and assessments shall be
established by the Board and approved by a vote of

⁴ Such sources include greens fees from the golf course, building rent on leases to third parties, and marina fees.

not less than sixty (60%) percent of the members present in person or by mail-in ballot at any annual or special meeting.

CP 217-18.

As a nonprofit corporation, SVCA holds an annual general meeting (AGM) of the members and, if needed, special general meetings (SGM). The AGM is held annually in the month of November. CP 234-35. Each year at the AGM, SVCA presents to the members a budget for ratification pursuant to RCW 64.38.025(3). The proposed budget contains the association's anticipated expenses and anticipated revenues from all sources, including annual dues and assessments.⁵ If the Board proposes an increase in the annual dues and assessments for the following year, SVCA offers a separate measure for the membership to approve the proposed increase pursuant to Article III, Section 19 of the Bylaws. CP 95, 218.

Because of the elevated (i.e., 60%) approval threshold for annual dues and assessments (plus the failure of past Boards of Directors to adequately justify proposed increases to the

⁵ Plaintiffs have repeatedly mischaracterized SVCA's budget process by claiming that SVCA excludes revenue from its budget. See, e.g., CP 60-61, 448, 472.

membership)⁶, SVCA membership has frequently rejected proposed increases in the annual dues and assessments. In 2011, the Board decided to try a different approach in order to improve the likelihood that a proposed dues increase would pass. Rather than propose an amendment to Article III Section 19 to lower the approval threshold, the Board passed a motion that simply ignored the voting threshold and procedures set forth in Article III, Section 19 of the Bylaws. The rationale for the motion, and the motion itself, is stated in the August 22, 2011 meeting minutes:

Our experience at our last several AGMs has been consistent. Each year our budget is approved but the dues proposal is defeated. Something like 50% of the members vote. Since approval of the dues under our Bylaws requires a super majority of 60% of those voting, 20% of the membership can and has blocked all dues increases, except one small one for the pools. To prevent this from happening at the coming AGM, I move:

That at the AGM, the results of the vote on the regular budget for Operations, Road and Capital be increased in the Operations Budget to subsidize the cost of the pools and the Special Budget for Capital Repair, Replacement, Reserve Fund be determined in accordance with Washington State Law, RCW 64.38.025, which provides that the Budget, including

⁶ The increase proposed at the 2012 AGM was passed by the membership, in part, due to the efforts of the Board to justify it.

the Dues to support it is approved unless a majority of the membership rejects it.

(Emphasis added.) CP 119, 224. The Board passed this motion, notwithstanding the direct conflict with Article III, Section 19. At the 2011 AGM, the membership ratified the budget. CP 225. But, because the Board had also purported to combine the vote on the annual dues and assessments with the vote on the budget, the Board concluded that the proposed dues increase had passed, despite the overwhelming rejection by the members by a 2:1 margin⁷:

Approved: 658

Rejected: 1249

CP 225.

As soon as the newly elected Board members took office, the newly constituted board immediately rescinded the August 22, 2011 motion since it changed the manner of voting for annual dues and assessments, in violation of Article III, Section 19 of the Bylaws. CP 225. This newly constituted Board also confirmed that the increase in the annual dues and assessments had not been

⁷ According to RCW 64.38.025(3), 1605 votes were needed to reject.

validly approved by the membership because the measure had not been approved by a 60% majority of the ballots cast at the meeting. CP 226.

As explained above, the membership votes on the budget and any proposed increase in annual dues and assessments at the AGM which is held every year in the month of November. In those years when the Board submits a measure to increase annual dues and assessments, it includes the additional revenue from that increase in the proposed budget. However, if the membership ratifies the budget but rejects the measure to increase the annual dues and assessments, the projected revenue in the budget is overstated. CP 95. This happened in the following years: 2010, 2011, and 2012.⁸ Id. To deal with this shortfall in revenue, the Board administratively adopted a “spending plan” in each of those years. Id. This was an orderly method for the Board to adjust expenditures so that total expenditures for the year did not exceed actual revenues. Plaintiffs assert that the Board’s adoption of these

⁸ No spending plan was required in 2013 because the measure to increase annual dues and assessments was approved by the membership. CP 226-27.

spending plans is—as well as the 60% requirement for approving annual dues and assessments—in violation of the Act.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Homeowners' Association Act Does Not Dictate the Process for Imposing Dues and Assessments.

The Act was enacted in 1995 for the stated purpose of “provid[ing] consistent laws regarding the formation and legal administration of homeowners’ associations” (“HOAs”). RCW 64.38.005. This stated purpose, however, does not evince any specific legislative intent to invalidate longstanding, contractual homeowners’ association methods for establishing assessments, or otherwise mandate a uniform *process* for homeowners’ associations to impose assessments on their members. In fact, the Act says very little about assessments, and what it does say supports SVCA’s position.

1. The Plain Language of the Act Supports SVCA’s Position that the Budget Approval Process is Not Synonymous with the Process for Imposing Assessments.

Plaintiffs’ argument relies almost exclusively on RCW 64.38.025(3). This section, by its very terms, deals with the

process for approving a *budget*, not the process for imposing assessments. It states the following:

Within thirty days after adoption by the board of directors of any proposed regular or special budget of the association, the board shall set a date for a meeting of the owners to consider ratification of the budget not less than fourteen nor more than sixty days after mailing of the summary. **Unless at that meeting the owners of a majority of the votes in the association are allocated [sic] or any larger percentage specified in the governing documents reject the budget, in person or by proxy, the budget is ratified, whether or not a quorum is present.** In the event the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the owners shall be continued until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors.

(Emphasis added). The term “assessments” is not even found in this section.

“Assessment” is defined in RCW 64.38.010(1) as “all sums chargeable to an owner by an association *in accordance with RCW 64.38.020.*” (Emphasis added). RCW 64.38.020 provides, in pertinent part, the following:

Unless otherwise provided in the governing documents, an association may:

(2) Adopt and amend budgets for revenues, expenditures, and reserves, and impose and collect

assessments for common expenses from owners;
[Emphasis added]

(11) Impose and collect charges for late payments of assessments and, after notice and an opportunity to be heard by the board of directors or by the representative designated by the board of directors and in accordance with the procedures as provided in the bylaws or rules and regulations adopted by the board of directors, levy reasonable fines in accordance with a previously established schedule adopted by the board of directors and furnished to the owners for violation of the bylaws, rules, and regulations of the association;

If Plaintiffs' interpretation is correct, the definition in RCW 64.38.010(1) would have read as follows: "all sums chargeable to an owner by an association *in accordance with RCW 64.38.025(3)*." (Emphasis added). The fact that the definition of assessment refers to a different section of the Act—which clearly and unambiguously addresses budgets as separate and apart from assessments—demonstrates that the legislature intended RCW 64.38.025(3) to apply only to the budget approval process, not to the imposition of assessments.

It bears great emphasis that the legislature distinguished assessments from budgets in RCW 64.38.020. This statute uses both terms. It is fundamental to statutory construction that where

the Legislature uses different terms, it intends a different meaning by each of those terms. In other words, each word used in a statute has its own separate meaning and the Legislature is presumed to have used no superfluous words.⁹ Consistent with this principle, RCW 64.38.020 demonstrates that the Legislature distinguished between budgets and assessments not only by separately referencing each term but also by referencing the approval for each in different ways. It provides, in relevant part, as follows:

Unless otherwise provided in the governing documents, an association may: . . .

(2) Adopt and amend budgets for revenues, expenditures, and reserves, and impose and collect assessments for common expenses from owners.

(Emphasis added.) This sentence structure shows the Legislature distinguished between the process for (a) “adopting” budgets, and (b) “imposing” assessments. Accordingly, when the Legislature later discusses the budget approval process in RCW 64.38.025(3) the Legislature is referring only to budgets, and not assessments as

⁹ *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624-627 (2005). In this case, the Court held that the terms “reckless driving” and “in a reckless manner” were different and therefore had different meanings. *Id.*

those are separate and distinct terms in the Act. *Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 624-627.

2. Plaintiffs Fail to Read RCW 64.38.025(4) in Context and Thereby Misconstrue its Meaning.

Plaintiffs argue that the following language in RCW 64.38.025(4) supports their view that approval of a budget automatically constitutes approval of assessments:

(4) As part of the summary of the budget provided to all owners, the board of directors shall disclose to the owners:

(a) The current amount of regular assessments budgeted for contribution to the reserve account, the recommended contribution rate from the reserve study, and the funding plan upon which the recommended contribution rate is based;

(b) If additional regular or special assessments are scheduled to be imposed, the date the assessments are due, the amount of the assessments per each owner per month or year, and the purpose of the assessments;

(c) Based upon the most recent reserve study and other information, whether currently projected reserve account balances will be sufficient at the end of each year to meet the association's obligation for major maintenance, repair, or replacement of reserve components during the next thirty years;

(d) If reserve account balances are not projected to be sufficient, what additional assessments may be necessary to ensure that sufficient reserve account

funds will be available each year during the next thirty years, the approximate dates assessments may be due, and the amount of the assessments per owner per month or year;

(e) The estimated amount recommended in the reserve account at the end of the current fiscal year based on the most recent reserve study, the projected reserve account cash balance at the end of the current fiscal year, and the percent funded at the date of the latest reserve study;

(f) The estimated amount recommended in the reserve account based upon the most recent reserve study at the end of each of the next five budget years, the projected reserve account cash balance in each of those years, and the projected percent funded for each of those years; and

(g) If the funding plan approved by the association is implemented, the projected reserve account cash balance in each of the next five budget years and the percent funded for each of those years.

Boiled down to its essence, Plaintiffs' argument is the following: (i) "funding plan" means "assessments", (ii) the funding plan must be included in the budget and therefore (iii) ratification of the budget automatically approves the revenue from assessments projected in the budget. This argument is in error for two reasons. First, it is a red herring because SVCA has always included proposed revenue from annual dues and assessments in its

budget. Second, this argument ignores the legislative history and purposes behind RCW 64.38.025(4).

The foregoing language was added to the Act in 2011—some 16 years after the Act was signed into law.¹⁰ The purpose of this statutory amendment was to impose reserve study requirements—already an obligation of condominium associations—on homeowners’ associations. Reserve studies are planning tools that enable a current or potential owner to understand whether an association has the necessary reserves to fund anticipated capital improvement projects.

Plaintiffs focus on the “summary of the budget” language as support for their position. But, they ignore crucial language that requires the summary of the budget to state the amount of assessments budgeted *for reserves or replacement of reserve components*.¹¹ (Emphasis added). The Bill Analysis for SHB 1309 confirms the purpose of the bill was to deal solely with reserve

¹⁰ SHB 1309.

¹¹ It is important to note that the “Summary of Budget” does not require the Board to provide a summary of operating expenses (e.g., salaries, ordinary maintenance, administration, etc.); it only requires the Board to provide a summary of capital projects and the association’s plan to pay for such capital expenses.

components and reserve funds, and had nothing to do with the calculation or approval of the overall level of assessments:

Background:

Condominium Associations.

In 2008, the Legislature amended the Condominium Act and the Horizontal Property Regimes Act to require condominium associations to conduct an initial reserve study by a reserve study professional, updated annually with a visual site inspection every three years, unless doing so would impose an unreasonable hardship.

A reserve study identifies the major maintenance, repair, and replacement expenses that a condominium association will incur over time that are not practical to include in an annual budget. The purpose of a reserve study is to evaluate the expected cost of future repair and maintenance of common elements. A reserve study must include a variety of information such as a reserve component list and the balance of the association's reserve account. A condominium association is not required to conduct a reserve study if the cost of a study exceeds 10 percent of the annual budget.

Condominium associations are authorized and encouraged to establish reserve accounts independent of the annual operating budget, administered by the board of directors, to fund the maintenance, repair, and replacement of common elements. A reserve account consists of funds contributed by condominium owners, supplemental to the association's annual operating budget, to fund major maintenance, repair, and replacement of common elements that will be required within 30

years. Examples of common elements include a condominium's lobby, roof, parking lot, recreational areas, roads, and sidewalks. The purpose of the reserve account is to offset the financial burden of necessary future renovations that, in the absence of a reserve account, would require the condominium association to impose a special assessment upon the owners.

Homeowners' Associations.

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