NO. 70329-3-I

Whatcom County No. 12-2-02406-1

COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUDDEN VALLEY COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, a Washington homeowner's association,

Appellant,

v.

CURT CASEY, DAVE SCOTT, BARBARA VOLKOV, Washington residents,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' RESPONSE BRIEF

BROWNLIE EVANS WOLF & LEE, LLP

MURPHY EVANS WSBA #26293 230 E. Champion Street Bellingham, WA 98225 360-676-0306

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

C. SVCA's practice of adopting "spending plans" without membership approval whenever it finds that its membership has rejected its proposed dues measure violates RCW 64.38.025(3).

RCW 64.38.025(3) states:

In the event the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the owners shall be continued until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors. SVCA's practice of adopting "spending plans" without membership approval violates RCW 64.38.025(3) in three ways:

- 1. The "spending plans" ignore the budget measures that the members ratified per RCW 64.38.025(3);
- 2. The "spending plans" are never presented to the membership for ratification; and
- The "spending plans" fail to revert to a budget that was previously ratified by the members "until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors."

1. Calling it a "spending plan" does not mean it's not a "budget."

SVCA has attempted to skirt the requirements of RCW 64.38.025(3) by calling its staff-generated budgets "spending plans" instead of "budgets". But in the immortal words of Richard Darman, "If it looks like a duck, walks like a duck, and quacks like a duck, it's a duck." SVCA's "spending plans" are "budgets." RCW 64.38.025(3) requires SVCA's "spending plans" be ratified by membership vote.

2. The "spending plans" are not updated budgets based on changed circumstances; they are the budgets themselves.

SVCA argues that it adoption of "spending plans" is no different than a mid-fiscal year revision to the budget based on such changed circumstances as members defaulting on their dues or a commercial

⁷ Darman was the budget director for former President George H.W. Bush, and made the comment with respect to how he could recognize a tax increase passed by Congress.

tenant defaulting on its lease. Appellant's Brief, p. 34-35. Plaintiffs do not deny that the board has authority to adjust spending to deal with changes in circumstances that take place during the fiscal year after the budget is approved by the membership; such discretion is necessary to deal with circumstances beyond the board's control: e.g. a tenant defaulting on its lease or a downturn in the economy. Indeed, it is precisely such unanticipated changes in circumstances – ones that are unrelated to the level of dues assessed by the association – that are not included in RCW 64.38.035(3)'s notice requirement.

(3) The notice of any meeting shall state the time and place of the meeting and the business to be placed on the agenda by the board of directors for a vote by the owners, including the general nature of any proposed amendment to the articles of incorporation, bylaws, any budget or changes in the previously approved budget that result in a change in assessment obligation, and any proposal to remove a director.

RCW 64.38.035 requires the association to give its membership notice and the opportunity to vote on any "changes in the previously approved budget that result in a change in assessment obligation." (See Section A.3 above.) RCW 64.38.035 does <u>not</u> require the association to give its membership notice of a change in the budget that is not related to a change in assessments (like the loss of a commercial tenant or a downturn in the economy).

In this case, the "spending plans" were caused by "change[s] in the assessment obligation"; because SVCA determined that its members had rejected the proposed dues measures, its proposed budgets for expenditures (which were based on those proposed dues) were out of whack. This change in circumstance was within the board's control: what dues are assessed on the members. This is the type of budget that requires notice to the members (RCW 64.38.035) and a membership vote (RCW 64.38.025(3)). The "spending plans" violate the Act.

3. SVCA's argument that forbidding its "spending plans" would be impractical is ironic because the "impracticality" is caused by SVCA's misreading of RCW 64.38.025(3).

SVCA argues that requiring it to submit a new budget for membership approval whenever its dues measures are rejected is both impractical and expensive. *Appellant's Brief, p. 26 and fn 23*. This argument is ironic. Had SVCA applied RCW 64.38.025(3) to its determinations of the outcomes of the membership votes on its dues measures in 2009, 2010, and 2011, it would have concluded that all of the dues measures were ratified and all of its proposed budgets were balanced. The source of any "impracticality" has always been SVCA's bifurcation of its budget proposal into two separate measures for membership votes, and its application of two, wildly different standards for determining the outcome of those votes.

If, as Plaintiffs argue, SVCA submitted a unified budget measure for a membership vote and applied RCW 64.38.025(3) to determine its outcome, then a single membership vote would decide the issue and there would never need to be a "spending plan". If the membership vote ratified the budget, the issue would be decided; if the membership rejected the budget, SVCA would simply revert to the last budget ratified by the membership. RCW 64.38.025(3).

Even if the court were to declare that the Act permits SVCA to propose bifurcated budget measures for membership votes and that RCW 64.38.025(3) applies to the determination of the outcome of each of those votes, it is highly unlikely that SVCA would ever find itself with a divided outcome (ratification of the expenditure measure and rejection of the dues measure), because RCW 64.38.025(3) makes it very easy to ratify a proposed budget and very hard to reject a proposed budget.⁸

4. At the very least, SVCA should have reverted to the budget last ratified by the members instead of following "spending plans" generated by staff.

Even if the court were to find that RCW 64.38.025(3) does <u>not</u> apply to the dues measures and that the SVCA board was justified in

⁸ SVCA argues that applying RCW 64.38.025(3) to dues measures would give boards too much power over the pocketbooks of members because the dues measures would never be defeated. *Appellant's Brief, p. 23*. This argument is ironic, given that SVCA argues that <u>nothing</u> in the Act gives the members the right to reject a dues measure. If, as SVCA warns, a board runs amok, the Act gives members the right to remove the board. RCW 64.38.025(5)

rejecting the membership's ratification of the budget for expenditures because that budget was later determined to be out of balance, the court cannot find that the board was free to adopt a staff-generated spending plan. RCW 64.38.025(3) specifies that if a budget is rejected, the association must revert to the budget last ratified by the members. At the very least, SVCA should have reverted to the budget last ratified by membership vote. The board's adoption of "spending plans" to solve its budget crises violated RCW 64.38.025(3).

5. The membership vote on the Budget <u>does</u> matter. The board is not free to adopt "spending plans" whenever it sees fit.

SVCA argues that RCW 64.38.025(3) imposes no obligation on a board to follow a budget that has been ratified by the membership vote.

Appellant's Brief, pp. 34-37. This is clearly contradicted by RCW 64.38.025(3), which states:

In the event the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the owners shall be continued until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors.

The board is <u>not</u> free to adopt whatever budget it sees fit. The board <u>is</u> obligated to follow the last budget that was ratified by the membership.

[&]quot;In the event the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the owners shall be continued until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors."

If the board had the discretion that SVCA claims, the statute would neither require a membership vote for ratification nor require the board to follow the last budget to be ratified in the event of membership rejection. The membership vote <u>does</u> matter. Both revenue measures and expenditure measures must be put to a membership vote in accordance with RCW 64.38.025(3). To interpret RCW 64.38.025(3) otherwise would render the membership vote meaningless.

D. If, as SVCA argues, only Article III, Section 19 of the SVCA Bylaws governs the adoption of dues measures, then SVCA collected dues that were never authorized by its Bylaws.

Under Article III, Section 19 of the Bylaws, "Annual dues and assessment shall be established by the board and approved by the membership by a vote of not less than sixty percent (60%) of the members present in person or by mail-in ballot at an annual or special meeting." CP 240-241. Unlike RCW 64.38.025(3), the Bylaws have no provision for what happens when the membership rejects a dues increase. A plain reading of the Bylaws is that annual dues are to be

¹⁰ RCW 64.38.025(3) specifies that "In the event the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the owners shall be continued until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors." Thus, in the event the membership rejected a dues increase, RCW 64.38.025(3) provides that the last dues increase to be ratified would remain in effect.

presented to the membership for approval <u>annually</u>. In other words, the membership must approve the annual dues each and every year.

This reading is consistent with the dues measures that the SVCA membership has voted on. At the March 29, 2008, special general meeting the membership voted on the following (emphasis added):

Measure #1: 2008 Dues Increase

The Total Annual Dues <u>for 2008</u> shall be approved at \$612.88 for Undeveloped Lots and \$717.56 for Developed Lots with a minimum of \$133.36 allocated to the road reserve and \$95.00 allocated to capital requirements <u>for the Calendar Year 2008</u>.

CP 306. The membership approved this dues increase <u>for 2008</u>. Nothing in the proposal indicates that the dues would be imposed in years subsequent to 2008.

In practice, however, SVCA imposed this 2008 dues increase on its members in calendar years 2009, 2010, 2011, and 2012. CP 220, 221, 222, and 227. SVCA justifies its imposition of the 2008 dues in subsequent years by arguing that once a dues measure is passed, it continues in perpetuity. CP 133-132. Thus, even though the SVCA Board found that its members had rejected the dues proposals for 2010, 2011 and 2012, it continued to impose the dues "for the Calendar Year 2008" in the four subsequent years. As a result, SVCA members were

deprived of any opportunity to approve or reject the dues that were actually imposed for calendar years 2009 – 2012.

Under the Plaintiffs' reading, RCW 64.38.025(3) applies to dues measures, and if a dues measure fails to pass in a given year, then the dues measure "last ratified by the membership" will remain in place. Thus, RCW 64.38.025(3) would permit SVCA's practice of carrying over previous dues increases to the following years. Absent the carryover provision of RCW 64.38.025(3) or some similar carryover provision in the SVCA Bylaws, there is no justification for SVCA's imposition of the dues "for Calendar Year 2008" in the subsequent calendar years of 2009-2012. If, as SVCA argues, Article III, section 19 of its Bylaws applies to the determination of whether its members approve a dues increase and its members did not approve dues measures for 2009-2012, then no dues should have been imposed on the members for those calendar years.

The trial court adopted the Plaintiffs' reading of the statute and ruled that RCW 64.38.025(3) applies to the passage of dues measures. If this court overturns the trial court and rules that RCW 64.38.025 does not apply to SVCA's dues measures, then it should also rule that SVCA improperly collected dues in 2009, 2010, 2011, and 2012. Alternatively, it should remand the case to the trial court for such a determination.

E. The court should affirm the trial court's declaration that RCW 64.38.025 requires SVCA to present a unified budget – one that includes both expenditures and revenues.

The trial court declared not only that RCW 64.38.025 applies to SVCA's proposed dues measures and that SVCA's "spending plans" violated the Act; the trial court also declared that the Act requires the association to submit a unified budget measure for membership ratification. *Appellant's Brief* does not address this issue.

RCW 64.38.025(3) specifies that in the event a budget is not ratified by the members, the association is to continue to operate under the last budget that was ratified by the members. Unless the "budget" described by RCW 64.38.025(3) is interpreted to include both revenues and expenditures in a single, unified budget measure, then this statutory mandate for reverting to the "budget last ratified by the owners" carries a likelihood of forcing an association to follow a budget that is not properly funded. In other words, if, as SVCA argues, an association is free to present its membership with bifurcated budget measures -- one for expenditures and another for revenues – then there is a risk that the members will ratify the expenditures but not ratify the revenue, leaving

¹⁰ "In the event the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the owners shall be continued until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors."

the association with the mandate to follow a budget that is not fully funded. This cannot be what the Legislature intended by a "budget" in RCW 64.38.025(3).

The Legislature intended the "budget" described in RCW 64.38.025(3) to be a unified budget that included both revenues and expenditures. Under this interpretation of "budget", there would never be a situation where expenditures are ratified but revenues are rejected resulting in a "budget" that cannot be properly implemented because it is under-funded. Under the statute, if the membership failed to ratify the unified budget, the association would simply revert to the last unified budget that was duty ratified. RCW 64.38.025(3).¹¹

This reading of "budget" is consistent with the legal definition of budget, which includes both revenues and expenditures. (See Section A.1 and fn. 3 and fn 4 above.) This reading is consistent with RCW 64.38.025(4) which makes assessments part of the budget. (See Section A.2 above). This reading of budget is consistent RCW 64.38.035(3), which explicitly links the "budget" to any change in the assessments on members. (See Section A.3 above.)

¹¹ "In the event the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the owners shall be continued until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors."

^{12 (3)} The notice of any meeting shall state the time and place of the meeting and the

F. Attorney's Fees.

1. The court should award Plaintiffs their attorney's fees on appeal.

RCW 64.38.050 authorizes the court to award the prevailing party its attorney's fees "in an appropriate case."

RCW 64.38.050. Violation--Remedy--Attorneys' fees

Any violation of the provisions of this chapter entitles an aggrieved party to any remedy provided by law or in equity. The court, in an appropriate case, may award reasonable attorneys' fees to the prevailing party.

This is an appropriate case.

SVCA violated the Homeowners' Association Act by applying Article III, Section 19 of its Bylaws – instead of RCW 64.38.025(3) – to its determination of whether the membership vote approved or rejected its proposed dues measures. This application of the wrong standard was not harmless. On the contrary, it repeatedly resulted in SVCA finding that dues measures that would have been ratified per RCW 64.38.025(3) were rejected per the Bylaws.

business to be placed on the agenda by the board of directors for a vote by the owners, including the general nature of any proposed amendment to the articles of incorporation, bylaws, any budget or changes in the previously approved budget that result in a change in assessment obligation, and any proposal to remove a director.

SVCA violated the Act by adopting "spending plans" as its annual budgets without submitting those spending plans to membership approval as required by RCW 64.38.025(3).

SVCA violated the Act by submitting bifurcated budget measures

– one for expenditures and another for dues – to the membership for approval instead of a unified budget measures (that included both expenditures and dues).

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